IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

U.S. BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION AS TRUSTEE FOR MERRILL LYNCH MORTGAGE INVESTORS TRUST, MORTGAGE LOAN ASSET-BACKED CERTIFICATES, SERIES 2005-A8,

Appellant,

VS.

SFR INVESTMENTS POOL 1, LLC,

Respondent.

CASE NO. 79235

Electronically Filed
Appeal from Eighth Judicia 512020:12:28 p.m.
Court, Case No.: A-1 Elizabeth CA. Brown
(Dept. XXXI) Clerk of Supreme Court

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

WRIGHT, FINLAY & ZAK, LLP Christina V. Miller, Esq. Nevada Bar No. 12448 Lindsay D. Robbins, Esq. Nevada Bar No. 13474 7785 W. Sahara Ave., Suite 200 Las Vegas, Nevada 89117 (702) 475-7964; Fax: (702) 946-1345

cmiller@wrightlegal.net

I. JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This case is properly before the Nevada Supreme Court based on the district court's June 18, 2019 Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law following trial in this matter occurring on April 16, 17, 18, 23, and 24, 2019 and May 20, 2019. Notice of entry of that order was served on June 19, 2018.

The Trustee's notice of appeal of the above orders was served and filed on July 18, 2019.³ The notice of appeal was timely as required by NRAP 4(a)(1).

II. ROUTING STATEMENT

Review of the district court's decision pertaining to the requirement of delivery of tender to sufficiently discharge the HOA's superpriority lien presents an issue that affects many individual homeowners' association sales throughout Nevada and raises a principal issue of first impression that has not been addressed in a published decision of this Court. Accordingly, this Court should retain jurisdiction of this matter pursuant to either NRAP 17(a)(11) or NRAP 17(a)(12).

¹ XII:JA02300 at 22-23. Citations to the record refer to the Joint Appendix and indicate the Volume and Page number of the Appendix where the matter relied on is to be found.

² XII:JA0231.

³ XII:JA02341-66.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED

- 1. Did the district court err by concluding that the Trustee was not the real party in interest with standing to protect the Deed of Trust, where the Trustee is the current beneficiary of the Deed of Trust and holder of the Note?
 - a. Did the district court abuse its discretion by precluding Harrison Whitaker from testifying at trial on behalf of the Trustee?
 - b. Did the district court abuse its discretion by excluding the deposition transcript of Katherine Ortwerth as a penalty for the Trustee's technical non-compliance with NRCP 16.1 where there is no evidence of any prejudice to SFR?
- 2. Did the district court err in applying a three-year limitation period under NRS 11.190 to preclude the Trustee's quiet title claim instead of a five-year limitation period under NRS 11.070 or NRS 11.080?
- 3. Did the district court abuse its discretion in failing to admit certain evidence at trial, which would have established the amount of tender?
- 4. Did the district court err in concluding that the Trustee must prove delivery of tender and, if so, then err in concluding that the Trustee did not prove mailing and delivery by a preponderance of the evidence?
- 5. Did the district court err in granting judgment in favor of SFR where the trial record established tender would have been futile under the circumstances?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This matter arises out of a quiet title action following a homeowner association's non-judicial foreclosure sale occurring on July 25, 2012 ("HOA Sale"), concerning real property located at 7868 Marbledoe Street, Las Vegas, Nevada 89149 ("Property").⁴

On July 12, 2016, the Trustee sued SFR in the Eighth Judicial District Court, State of Nevada, seeking a judicial declaration that SFR acquired its interest in the Property subject to the Deed of Trust.⁵ SFR filed its Answer and Counterclaim on October 19, 2016.⁶ Following discovery and mutually unsuccessful motions for summary judgment,⁷ the matter proceeded to trial on April 16-18, 23-24 and May 20, 2019, before the Honorable Joanna S. Kishner.⁸ Following the trial, the Court granted several of SFR's Rule 52(c) motions, issued its Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law ("Trial Order"), thereby entering judgment in favor of SFR and against the Trustee on the Trustee's Complaint and in favor of SFR on its Counterclaim.⁹ Notice of Entry of the Trial Order was filed

_

⁴ I:JA00001-62.

⁵ *Id*.

⁶ I:JA00097-114.

⁷ III:JA00465-68.

⁸ XII:JA02300-18.

⁹ *Id*.

on June 19, 2019.¹⁰ The Trustee timely filed its appeal of the Trial Order on July 18, 2019.¹¹

V. STATEMENT OF FACTS

The Subject Loan

On or about May 23, 2005, Henry E. Ivy and Freddie S. Ivy ("Borrowers") purchased the Property and borrowed \$212,750.00 (the "Note") from Universal American Mortgage Company, LLC, secured by a first deed of trust against the Property ("Deed of Trust") (the Note and Deed of Trust are collectively referred to herein as the "Loan"). 12

On October 1, 2005, Merrill Lynch Mortgage Investors Trust, Mortgage Loan Asset-Backed Certificated, Series 2005-A8 (the "Trust") acquired the loan. ¹³ On June 1, 2018, a Corporate Assignment of Deed of Trust to GreenPoint Mortgage Funding, Inc. was recorded against the Property. ¹⁴ Thereafter, on July 2, 2018, a Corporate Assignment of Deed of Trust to the Trustee was recorded against the Property. ¹⁵

¹⁰ XII:JA02319-40.

¹¹ XIII:JA02341-66.

¹² III:JA00595-616.

¹³ VIII:JA01278.

¹⁴ VI:JA01212-13.

¹⁵ VIII:JA01513-14.

The HOA's lien, tender and the resulting foreclosure sale

The Property is located in the Antelope Homeowners' Association ("HOA"), and is subject to the Declaration of Covenants, Conditions and Restrictions and Reservation of Easements for Antelope Homeowners' Association recorded on June 23, 2004. The HOA retained Alessi & Koenig, LLC ("A&K") as its foreclosure agent to collect delinquent assessments from the Borrowers. On November 12, 2009, A&K recorded a Notice of Delinquent Assessment ("NODA"). On February 17, 2011, A&K recorded a Notice of Default and Election to Sell Under Homeowners Association Lien ("NOD"). On August 11, 2011, A&K recorded a Notice of Trustee's Sale ("First NOS").

After the First NOS was recorded, Bank of America, N.A. ("BANA"), the prior servicer for the Loan, retained the law firm of Miles, Bauer, Bergstrom & Winters, LLP ("MBBW") to tender the superpriority portion of the HOA's lien in order to protect the Deed of Trust.²¹ Due to several incorrect evidentiary rulings at trial, the Trustee was prohibited from establishing that BANA, through MBBW, requested a payoff demand from A&K with respect to the delinquent HOA

¹⁶ III:JA00523-88.

¹⁷ IV:JA00662.

¹⁸ *Id*.

¹⁹ IV:JA00665.

²⁰ IV:JA00666.

²¹ IV:JA00686-87.

assessment account for the Property. However, the evidence at trial establishes that on October 21, 2011, A&K provided a payoff demand to MBBW ("Payoff Demand"). 22 The district court incorrectly did not admit the HOA's account ledger attached to the Payoff Demand.²³ However, testimony at trial established that there were no nuisance and abatement charges contained in the HOA lien.²⁴ In response to the Payoff Demand, and consistent with his ordinary course of business, Rock Jung, an attorney with MBBW, calculated the amount of the superpriority lien and tendered \$405.00 to A&K on December 16, 2011 ("Tender"). 25 The district court did not admit evidence that the Tender was rejected by A&K and returned to MBBW finding that the documents establishing rejection (the Affidavit of Doug Miles and screenshot of MBBW's internal file management system for the Property)²⁶ were inadmissible hearsay.²⁷ Nonetheless, the evidence at trial established that A&K's pattern and practice during the time of Tender was to reject all tender checks which were accompanied by letters containing, in A&K's opinion, "restrictive" or "conditional" language. 28

²² IV:JA00688-94.

²³ IV:JA00690-94.

²⁴ XIII:JA02557 at 15-19, JA02560:2-6 and XIV:JA02737:25-JA02738:2.

²⁵ IV: JA00695-97.

²⁶ VI:JA01161-66.

²⁷ XIV:02628:12-JA02630:4.

²⁸ XV:JA02798-99:13, JA02840:24-JA0241:3.

On April 16, 2012, A&K recorded a second Notice of Sale ("Second NOS"). ²⁹ A third Notice of Sale ("Operative NOS") was then recorded against the Property on July 2, 2012. ³⁰ Pursuant to the Operative NOS, the HOA foreclosed on July 25, 2012 ("HOA Sale"). ³¹ On August 3, 2012, A&K recorded a Trustee's Deed Upon Sale ("TDUS"), identifying SFR as the grantee and a sale price of \$5,950.00. *Id*.

The Trustee's Complaint, SFR's Counterclaim, and Trial

On July 12, 2016, the Trustee sued SFR to quiet title.³² SFR filed its Answer and Counterclaim for quiet title on October 19, 2016, claiming that as a result of the HOA Sale, the Deed of Trust no longer encumbered the Property and that SFR owned the Property free and clear of the Deed of Trust.³³ On May 8, 2018, the Trustee filed its First Amended Complaint, which included allegations of Tender.³⁴

On December 2, 2016, the Trustee served its Initial Disclosure of Witnesses and Documents pursuant to NRCP 16.1, which identified the Trustee's Corporate Designee as a witness.³⁵ By April 25, 2018, the Trustee had produced all of the

²⁹ IV:JA00667.

³⁰ IV:JA00668.

³¹ IV: JA00669-70.

³² I:JA00001-62.

³³ I:JA00097-114.

³⁴ II:JA00283-346.

³⁵ ADD055-221.

documents pertaining to Tender.³⁶ The Trustee and SFR deposed David Alessi on May 29, 2018.³⁷ SFR also deposed the Trustee's NRCP 30(b)(6) Witness, Katherine Ortweth, an employee of Ocwen Financial Corporation ("Ocwen") as servicer for the Trustee, on June 14, 2018, wherein SFR questioned Ms. Ortweth regarding the Trustee's interest in the loan.³⁸ SFR also inspected the Trustee's original collateral file containing the wet-ink Note, endorsed in blank, and executed an acknowledgement of the same.³⁹

In preparation of trial, the Trustee produced its Pre-Trial Disclosures, highlighting its intention to call its Corporate Designee and Custodian of Records at trial.⁴⁰ Additionally, the Trustee reserved the right to use any deposition designated by any other party.⁴¹ SFR also designated the deposition of the Trustee's NRCP 30(b)(6) witness, Katherine Ortwerth, in its Pre-Trial Disclosures.⁴² The trial took place on April 16th-18th, 23rd-24th, and May 20, 2019.⁴³

³⁶ ADD222-277.

³⁷ ADD001-022.

³⁸ X:JA01898-99. The entirety of the Deposition Transcript of Ms. Ortwerth is attached to Addendum as ADD023-054.

³⁹ IX:JA01515-620.

⁴⁰ ADD283-291.

⁴¹ *Id*.

⁴² ADD278-282.

⁴³ XII:JA02300-18.

The district court entered judgment in favor of SFR on the Trustee's Complaint and quieted title in SFR's favor on its Counterclaim.⁴⁴

VI. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The district court entered judgment in favor of SFR and against the Trustee on three distinct grounds, all of which should be reversed on appeal:

First, the district court erroneously concluded that it lacked subject matter jurisdiction to consider the Trustee's claims, finding that the Trustee did not have any interest in the Loan at time of filing of the Complaint solely because the Assignment to the Trustee was not recorded until after the Complaint was filed. Had the district court not abused its discretion in refusing to permit testimony from the Trustee's corporate designee, the Trustee would have been able to establish that the Trust was in possession of the original Note and had owned the Loan since October 2005, thus providing the district court with subject matter jurisdiction.

Second, the district court erroneously concluded that the Trustee's tender defense had to be asserted within NRS 11.190(3)(a)'s three-year statute of limitations. To the contrary, this Court recently confirmed that the three-year limitation period under NRS 11.190(3)(a) does not apply to quiet title claims⁴⁵ and legal theories, such as the defense of tender. Cf. Liston v. Las Vegas Metro. Police

⁴⁴ Id.

⁴⁵ Arbor Park, 2020 WL 1903156, 461 P.3d 159 (Nev. 2020), unpublished.

Dep't, 111 Nev. 1575, 1578, 908 P.2d 720, 723 (1995).

Third, regardless of the Trustee's standing to assert its claims within the requisite limitations period, the district court erred in quieting title in favor of SFR on its Counterclaim, because SFR failed to establish superior title where there was a pre-sale Tender of the superpriority portion of the HOA's lien. While the district court admitted the Tender, it abused its discretion by refusing to admit supporting business records and witness testimony confirming the Tender amount was sufficient to satisfy the superpriority portion of the HOA's lien and delivery of the Tender to A&K. Consequently, not only did the district court err in concluding that the Trustee failed to prove the Tender was sufficient to discharge the superpriority portion of the HOA's lien, but it also erred in quieting title in favor of SFR.

Further, even if this Court affirms the district court's evidentiary rulings regarding Tender, the Trustee is still entitled to a reversal of the Trial Order as this Court recently held that where tender would be futile based on an HOA trustee's pattern and practice of rejecting tenders, formal tender is excused. 7510 Perla Del Mar Ave Trust v. Bank of America, N.A., 136 Nev. Adv. Op. 6, 458 P.3d 348 (2020) ("Perla Trust"). Because the evidence at trial established that had A&K received the tender from MBBW, it would have been summarily rejected, this Court should reverse the district court's Trial Order on the basis that the Trustee's predecessor was excused from making a formal tender.

VII. STANDARD OF REVIEW

While a district court's findings of fact are reviewed for abuse of discretion, a district court's conclusions of law are reviewed de novo. *White v. Cont'l Ins. Co.*, 119 Nev. 114, 116, 65 P.3d 1090, 1091 (2003). A district court abuses its discretion when it "bases its decision on a clearly erroneous factual determination or it disregards controlling law," *MB Am., Inc. v. Alaska Pac. Leasing Co.*, 132 Nev. Adv. Op. 8, 367 P.3d 1286, 1292 (2016). A district court also abuses its discretion when it excludes critical evidence that the plaintiff needs to prove an essential element of his disputed claim. *Hansen v. Universal Health Servs. of Nevada, Inc.*, 115 Nev. 24, 29, 974 P.2d 1158, 1161 (1999) (citing *McCourt v. J.C. Penney Co.*, 103 Nev. 101, 103, 734 P.2d 696, 698 (1987)).

VIII. <u>LEGAL ARGUMENT</u>

A. THE DISTRICT COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION IN REFUSING TO ALLOW THE TRUSTEE TO PRESENT TESTIMONY TO ESTABLISH STANDING.

Pursuant to NRCP 17(a)(1) "[a]n action must be prosecuted in the name of the real party in interest". The district court abused its discretion when it concluded that the Trustee was not a real party in interest under NRCP 17(a) and therefore lacked standing at the time it filed its Complaint in July 2016. ⁴⁶ Specifically, the district court found that because SFR and the Trustee stipulated to the fact that

⁴⁶ XII:JA02330:1-JA02333:9.

Universal was still the beneficiary *of record* of Deed of Trust at the time the Trustee filed its Complaint on July 12, 2016, and because the Assignment to the Trustee was not recorded until July 2, 2018, that it was Universal and not the Trustee that was the real party of interest at the time of filing of the Complaint.⁴⁷

However, the law in Nevada is clear that a recorded assignment is neither essential nor even a prerequisite to establishing standing to enforce a note and deed of trust. *See Edelstein v. Bank of New York Mellon*, 128 Nev. 505, 522-24, 286 P.3d 249, 261 (2012), holding, at 522: "Even independently of MERS' assignment, BNY Mellon was entitled to enforce the note. The Uniform Commercial Code, Article 3, governs transfers of negotiable instruments, like the note. [citation omitted]. Therefore, for a subsequent lender to establish that it is entitled to enforce a note, it must present 'evidence showing [e]ndorsement of the note either in its favor or in favor of [its servicer].' *In re Veal*, 450 B.R. 897, 921 (9th Cir. BAP 2011); *see also Leyva*, 127 Nev. at ——, 255 P.3d at 1279."

Unfortunately, as discussed *infra*, the district court improperly refused to allow Harrison Whittaker, the NRCP 30(b)(6) witness for the Trustee, to testify at trial that the Trustee had owned and possessed the underlying Note, endorsed in blank,⁴⁸ since October 1, 2005. The trial court then compounded its error by also

⁴⁷ XII:JA02330 at 15-26.

⁴⁸ IX:JA01275

precluding the Trustee from, as an alternative to Mr. Whittaker's live testimony, offering the deposition transcript of Katherine Ortwerth, an earlier NRCP 30(b)(6) witness for the Trustee, deposed by SFR during discovery.⁴⁹

Had the district court not abused its discretion in failing to admit testimony from either Mr. Whittaker or Ms. Ortwerth, the Trustee would have been able to move to admit proposed Exhibits 40 (the Pooling and Servicing Agreement with the associated Schedule of Loans for the Trustee ("PSA") and 41 (a copy of the original Note), to establish that the Trustee was the real party in interest with standing at the time of filing the Complaint.

While not required⁵⁰, the Trustee also moved to introduce proposed Exhibit 43, the collateral file containing the original wet-ink Note that was reviewed by SFR in the course of discovery.⁵¹ However, due to the district court's erroneous decision not to allow the Trustee to present a witness at trial, it was not allowed to authenticate the collateral file and original Note, thereby preventing their

_

⁴⁹ XI:JA02068 at 10-17.

⁵⁰ See Daisy Trust v. Wells Fargo Bank, N.A., 135 Nev. 230, 235, 445 P.3d 846, 850 (2019) (Wells Fargo did not have to produce original promissory note or testify that it had inspected the note to establish when Freddie Mac obtained ownership of the loan or that it retained such ownership on a past date, as there is no legal requirement that an endorsement on a promissory note be dated) (citing NRS 104.3204 (discussing the endorsement of a promissory note and not providing any requirement that the endorsement be dated).

⁵¹ XI:JA02106 at 3-6.

admission into the record.⁵² The district court's errors prevented the Trustee from presenting the evidence that would have established its standing.⁵³

1. The district court abused its discretion by not permitting Harrison Whittaker to testify at trial where SFR deposed a PMK witness for the Trustee during discovery and would not suffer any harm.

Mr. Whittaker was present and prepared to testify at trial as a key witness for the Trustee; however, the district court refused to allow him to testify. The district court's evidentiary ruling excluding him was two-fold: first, the district court found that because Harrison Whittaker was not formally identified by name in the Trustee's NRCP 16.1 disclosures, he would not be allowed to testify. 54 Second, the district court took the position that, even if Mr. Whittaker had been identified by name as a witness for the Trustee, because Mr. Whittaker was employed by Ocwen, the loan servicer for the Trustee, rather than the Trustee directly, Mr. Whitaker was not allowed to testify because Ocwen was also not formally identified in the Trustee's NRCP 16.1 disclosures.55 The district court's conclusions were erroneous and an abuse of its discretion as technical noncompliance with NRCP 16.1 is not fatal since the disclosures did designate the Corporate Designee for the Trustee and SFR had full knowledge of Ocwen's

⁵² XI:JA02106 at 14-18.

⁵³ It should be noted that the Trustee's standing is irrelevant to SFR's Counterclaim to quiet title, where it sued the Trustee.

⁵⁴ XII:JA02327 at 17-23.

⁵⁵ XII:JA02327:17-JA02328:8.

servicing relationship with the Trustee through discovery and would not suffer any harm by allowing him to testify.

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