Case No. 79235

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF NEVADA

U.S. BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION AS TRUSTEE FOR MERRILL LYNCH MORTGAGE INVESTORS TRUST, MORTGAGE LOAN ASSET-BACKED CERTIFICATES, SERIES 2005-A8 Electronically Filed Jun 14 2021 03:22 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

Appellant,

VS.

SFR INVESTMENTS POOL 1, LLC, A NEVADA LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY,

Respondent.

APPEAL

From the Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County
The Honorable JOANNA KISHNER, District Judge
District Court Case No. A-16-739867-C

RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

JACQUELINE A. GILBERT, ESQ. Nevada Bar No. 10593 E-mail: jackie@kgelegal.com DIANA S. EBRON, ESQ. Nevada Bar No. 10580 E-mail: diana@kgelegal.com

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

Irrespective of the lack of standing finding, the District Court properly found

U.S. Bank's claim was time-barred finding that a three-year statute of limitations applied to the claim, and properly finding that U.S. Bank's allegations of tender, made for the first time in May 2018, did not relate back to the original complaint.

At trial, U.S. Bank failed to establish the super-priority amount and that it delivered a proper tender prior to the sale. The District Court properly exercised its discretion in sustaining SFR's objections to various documents U.S. Bank attempted to admit based on lack of authenticity and hearsay. But even before this, U.S. Bank failed to preserve its appellate record on this issue by failing to make an offer of proof at trial regarding the documents excluded by the District Court. Thus, the issue of admissibily is not even properly before this Court. Additionally, the District Court's conclusion as to no proof of delivery was based on substantial evidence.

Finally, U.S. Bank never raised the issue of futility below, raising it for the first time on appeal. It waived the issue and should not be considered by this Court. For these reasons, this Court should affirm the District Court's judgment in favor of SFR.

///

ARGUMENT

I. U.S. BANK DID NOT ESTABLISH ITS STANDING TO CHALLENGE THE SALE AT THE TIME IT FILED ITS COMPLAINT.

The District Court correctly ruled U.S. Bank, at the time it filed its complaint on July 12, 2016, was not the real party in interest and therefore lacked standing. Thus, the District Court properly dismissed U.S. Bank's complaint under NRCP 12(h)(3).

Under NRCP 17(a), "[a]n action must be prosecuted in the name of the real party in interest." As this Court recognized, "[a] real party in interest is one who possesses the right to enforce the claim and has a significant interest in the litigation." *Arguello v. Sunset Station, Inc.*, 127 Nev. 365, 368, 252 P.3d 206, 208 (2011) (internal quotations omitted). In short, the determination is whether the plaintiff is the correct party to bring the suit. *See Elley v. Stephens*, 104 Nev. 413, 416-17, 760 P.2d 768, 771 (1988) ("appellants are asserting someone else's potential legal problem; they are not the proper party to assert [this claim]"); *see also Hammes v. Brumley*, 659 N.E.2d 1021, 1030 (Ind. 1995) (citing *Bowen v. Metro Bd. Of Zoning Appeals*, 317 N.E.2d 193 (Ind. App. 1974)) (a real party in interest is the person who is the true owner of the right sought to be enforced).

In the present case, U.S. Bank conveniently glosses over the fact it stipulated that at the time of the Association sale, Universal was owner of the Ivy Note and

beneficiary of record of the Deed of Trust. (SA_0016 at ¶ 16.) Also, at the time U.S. Bank filed its complaint on July 12, 2016, Universal was still the recorded beneficiary of the Deed of Trust. (SA_0016 at ¶ 18.) As such, at the time of trial, it was unrefuted Universal was the real party in interest on July 12, 2016, not U.S. Bank. "The inquiry into whether a party is a real party in interest overlaps with the question of standing." Arguello, 252 P.3d at 208. The question of standing "focuses on the party seeking adjudication rather than on the issues sought to be adjudicated." Szilagyi v. Testa, 99 Nev. 834, 838, 673 P.2d 495, 498 (1983). In order to have standing, the party must also have suffered a legally redressable harm and the suit must be "ripe" and not "moot" (at least as to the particular plaintiff) at the time of the lawsuit. See Schwartz v. Lopez, 132 Nev. 732, 742, 382 P.3d 886, 894 (Nev. 2016) (to establish standing, a party must show the occurrence of an injury that is **personal to him** and not merely a generalized grievance.) (emphasis added). Whether a party has standing is a question that goes to the court's jurisdiction. Baldonado v. Wynn Las Vegas, LLC, 124 Nev. 951, 964-65, 194 P.3d 96, 105 (2008); Vaile v. Eighth Jud. Dist. Ct., 118 Nev. 262, 276, 44 P.3d 506, 515–16 (2002). A court lacks the power to grant relief when (1) an indispensable party is absent; or (2) the dispute is moot or not yet ripe, or a party does not have the legal right to seek or receive the requested relief. See State Indus. Ins. Sys. v. Sleeper, 100 Nev. 267, 269, 679 P.2d 1273, 1274 (1984) ("There can be no dispute that lack of subject matter

jurisdiction renders a judgment void"). See generally John G. Roberts, Jr., Article III Limits on Statutory Standing, 42 Duke L.J. 1219, 1230 (1993); Antonin Scalia, The Doctrine of Standing as an Essential Element of the Separation of Powers, 17 Suffolk U.L.Rev. 881, 881 (1983).

"Nevada has a long history of requiring an actual justiciable controversy as a predicate to judicial relief" i.e. standing. *In re Amerco Derivative Litig.*, 127 Nev. 196, 213, 252 P.3d 681, 694 (2011) (internal quotations omitted) (citing Doe v. Bryan, 102 Nev. 523, 525, 728 P.2d 443, 444 (1986)). Further, "a justiciable controversy [is] a preliminary hurdle to an award of declaratory relief." *Doe v. Bryan*, 102 Nev. 523, 525, 728 P.2d 443, 444 (1986) citing *Southern Pacific Co. v. Dickerson*, 80 Nev. 572, 576, 397 P.3d 187, 190 (1964)). What constitutes a justiciable controversy is defined in *Kress v. Corey*, 65 Nev. 1, 25, 189 P.2d 352, 364 (1948) as:

(1) there must exist a justiciable controversy; that is to say, a controversy in which a claim of right is asserted against one who has an interest in contesting it; (2) the controversy must be between persons whose interests are adverse; (3) the party seeking declaratory relief must have a legal interest in the controversy, that is to say, a legally protectable interest; and (4) the issue involved in the controversy must be ripe for judicial determination.

Id. at 364.

Here, U.S. Bank fell short of these requirements. First, U.S. Bank had no claim of right at the time of filing the complaint because it did not become the recorded

beneficiary until July 2, 2018, nearly two years after the filing of the complaint. (JA01513-1514.) Second, in order for U.S. Bank's interest to be adverse to SFR's, U.S. Bank would actually have to have an interest in the first place. But at the time of filing the complaint, U.S. Bank had no interest in the Deed of Trust. Third, because U.S. Bank had no interest at the time it sued SFR, it follows that U.S. Bank did not have a legally protectable interest at the time of filing. Finally, because U.S. Bank had no interest at the time it sued SFR, all claims U.S. Bank asserted against SFR were not ripe for judicial determination.

Based on the above, the District Court correctly concluded U.S. Bank failed to show a justiciable controversy and failed to show any injury. As such, U.S. Bank lacked standing at the time the claims were filed against SFR. Nor can the later assignment to U.S Bank in July 2018, while this case was pending, cure the lack of subject matter jurisdiction at the outset. This is so because subject matter jurisdiction "cannot be conferred by the parties." *Swan v. Swan*, 106 Nev. 464, 469, 796 P.2d 221, 224 (1990). Under NRCP 12(h)(3), "[i]f the court determines at any time that it lacks subject-matter jurisdiction, the court must dismiss the action." The District Court properly found U.S. Bank was neither the real party in interest, nor did it have standing at the time it filed its complaint, and thus the Court lacked subject matter jurisdiction from the outset. As such, under NRCP 12(h)(3), the District Court properly dismissed U.S. Bank's action.

II. THE DISTRICT COURT PROPERLY FORBID U.S. BANK FROM AMBUSHING SFR AT TRIAL TO CONTRADICT A STIPULATED FACT.

U.S. Bank admits it needed either Mr. Whittaker or Ms. Orweth's (the NRCP 30(b)(6) witness for U.S Bank) deposition testimony to prove standing. Specifically, U.S. Bank acknowledges it intended to use these witneses to authenticate the pooling and servicing agreement, which in turn, U.S. Bank claims would prove the Merrill Lynch Investors Trust owned the loan in question on the date of the Association sale and on the date U.S. Bank filed its complaint. But what U.S. Bank asks this Court to ignore, is U.S. Bank stipulated, prior to trial, that Universal was the owner of the Ivy Note and beneficiary of record at the time of the Association foreclosure sale. (SA_0016 at ¶ 16.) Likewise, at the time U.S. Bank filed its complaint, Universal was still the beneficiary of record. (SA_0016.)

This Court has recognized that "[s]tipulations are of an inestimable value in the administration of justice, and valid stipulations are controlling and conclusive and both trial and appellate courts are bound to enforce them." *Lehrer McGovern Bovis, Inc. v. Bullock Insulation, Inc.*, 124 Nev. 1102, 1118, 197 P.3d 1032, 1042 (2008) *quoting Second Bapt. Ch. v. Mt. Zion Bapt. Ch.*, 86 Nev. 164, 172, 466 P.2d 212, 217 (1970) (citation omitted).

III. THE DISTRICT COURT CORRECTLY PROHIBITED U.S. BANK FROM CALLING AN UNDISCLOSED WITNESS AND USING NON-DESIGNATED DEPOSITION TESTIMONY.

U.S. Bank's inability to call Harrison Whittaker as a witness at trial was of its own making. U.S. Bank failed to comply with NRCP 16.1's disclosure requirements. All the District Court did was enforce the mandate of NRCP 16.1(e)(3). Further, U.S. Bank has no one but itself to blame for its inability to use depositon testimony from Katherine Ortwerth because again, U.S. Bank failed to comply with NRCP 16.1 and the District Court's trial order. U.S. Bank never designated any testimony it intended to offer at trial, and thefore the District Court properly enforced the Rules and its own order.

A. NRCP 16.1(e)(3) Mandated the District Cout's Prohibition of Harrison Whittaker, a Witness U.S. Bank Never Disclosed.

NRCP $16.1(a)(1)(A)(i)^{12}$ provides a party is required, as part of its initial disclosures, to disclose the "name...of each individual likely to have information discoverable under Rule 26(b)..." NRCP 16.1(a)(3)(A)(i) similarly provides a party, as part of its pre-trial disclosures, is required to disclose "the name, and...the address

24

¹² For purposes of this appeal, any reference to NRCP 16.1 refers to the pre March 1, 2019 amendments to the rule, as the pre-amended version was the one in play at the time the disclosures were made.

and telephone number of each witness..." Most importantly, NRCP 16.1(e)(3) mandates the court prohibit the use of a non-disclosed witness:

If an attorney fails to reasonably comply with any provision of this rule...the court **shall** impose upon a party...appropriate sanctions in regard to the failure(s) as are just, **including** the following:...**an order prohibiting the use of any witness**...that should have been disclosed...under Rule 16.1(a).

NRCP 16.1(e)(3).

Here, U.S. Bank admits it never disclosed Mr. Whittaker, by name, in either its intial disclosures or its pre-trial disclosures. Contary to U.S. Bank's contention, the analysis is not one under NRCP 37(c)(1) because NRCP 16.1(e)(3) mandates the Court prohibit any witness not named. Equally unavailing is U.S. Bank's reliance on a March 27, 2020 unpublished order of affirmance. *See SFR Investments Pool 1, LLC v. Bank of America, N.A.*, No. 77898 (March 27, 2020) (unpublished disposition). For one, in that case, SFR never argued NRCP 16.1(e)(3) like it does here and like it did below. (JA02844-2845; JA02503.)

Second, in the unpublished case, while Adam Kendis was not identified separately as a witness, the affidavit he signed was disclosed. The same cannot be said here. No document referencing or signed by Mr. Whittaker was ever disclosed. Couple this with U.S. Bank's failure to identify him by name, he was a complete surprise witness to SFR at trial, which SFR thoroughly explained in its objection. (JA02849-2851.) In fact, U.S. Bank also never disclosed the name of the company

who employed Mr. Whittaker, Ocwen Financial Corporaton. (JA02847.) The District Court took all this into account when making its proper ruling to exclude Mr. Whittaker as a witness. (JA02854-2855; JA02870-2871.) Finally, if it is not an abuse of discretion to allow a witness not specifically disclosed, it is equally not an abuse to discretion to disallow a witness not disclosed.

Despite the fact NRCP 37(c)(1) is not in play, SFR explained how it would be prejudiced and the District Court found SFR established it would be prejudiced. (JA02858; JA02872.) This Court cannot disturb this finding simply because it might disagree. *Franklin v. Bartsas Realty, Inc.*, 95 Nev. 559, 562, 598 P.2d 1147, 1149 (1979) *citing Close v. Flanary*, 77 Nev. 87, 360 P.2d 259 (1961).

B. The District Court Correctly Prohibited U.S. Bank From Using Non-Designated Deposition Testimony.

U.S. Bank failed to follow NRCP 16.1(a)(3)(A)(ii) which <u>mandates</u> that a party designate any witness whose testimony will be presented by deposition as part of its pre-trial disclosures. Contrary to U.S. Bank's contention, it did not disclose Ms. Ortwerth as a witness whose testimony would be presented via deposition. Instead, under the heading "U.S. Bank Expects to Use the Depositions as Allowed Under Nevada Law," it stated, "None at this time." (SA_0006.) In fact, at trial U.S. Bank's counsel had to concede Ms. Ortwerth's name appeared nowhere when prompted by the Court:

THE COURT: And the Court did not see Ms. Ortwerth, O-R-T-W-E-R-T-H, named anywhere listed there on. Is she anywhere in there?

MR. NITZ: No. It didn't say on there.

(JA02083:15-17.)

Additionally, the Distirct Court's trial order required parties to submit page and line designations of any intended deposition testimony two judicial days prior to calendar call, and serve the same on all parties. (JA02086:11-17.) Any counter-designations were due one judicial day prior to calendar call. (*Id.*) U.S. Bank, however, failed to follow this rule too; it never made any page and line desingations. (JA02087-02088.)

It is axiomatic that a Court's enforcement of both the Nevada Rules of Civil Procedure and its own orders is not an abuse of discretion; particularly when the civil rule in play, like here, mandates disclosure and does not afford the Court discretion to excuse compliance. Nevertheless, U.S. Bank made no offer of proof at trial, nor does it cite to any such offer in its brief of how Ms. Ortwerth's testimony would have refuted the previously stipulated fact that at the time of the Association sale Universal owned the Ivy Note or that at the time of filing its complaint Merrill Lynch was really the beneficiary of the deed of trust despite the public record still reflecting Universal as the beneficiary. *See Lisser v. Kelly*, 88 Nev. 563, 566, 503 P.2d 108, 110 (1972) (refusing to consider error of trial court't refusal to admit

certain proffered testimony, where record did not contain an offer of proof reflecting what the testimony would have been.)

All told, the District Court did not abuse its discretion. U.S. Bank failed to follow the rules.

IV. U.S. BANK'S CLAIM IS TIME-BARRED.

The District Court's findings as to the statute of limations was made on two-fronts. First, the District Court found U.S. Bank's quiet title claim was governed by the three-year statute of limitations under NRS 11.190(3)(a). Second, the District Court found U.S. Bank's allegations of tender, made for the first time in its amended complaint filed on May 8, 2018, did not relate back to the original complaint. On both fronts the District Court got it right.¹³

A. <u>U.S. Bank's Quiet Title Claim is Governed by NRS 11.190(3)(a).</u>

U.S. Bank's reliance on *Arbor Park*¹⁴ is unavailing. This Court should not follow *Arbor Park* because the analysis in this unpublished disposition is incorrect.

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